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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Business Review

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group recorded revenue of HK$499,849,000 (2021:
HK$517,246,000), representing a slightly decrease of 3.4% as compared with
the same period last year. Included in the amount of revenue, HK$342,099,000
(2021: HK$351,570,000) was derived from the cosmetics business, representing a
slightly decrease of 2.7% over the same period last year and 68.4% of the Group’s
total revenue (2021: 68.0%). The revenue of the fashion business amounted to
HK$157,750,000 (2021: HK$165,676,000), representing a slightly decrease of
4.8% as compared with the same period last year.

During the year, the global outbreak of the epidemic of the novel coronavirus (the
“Pandemic”) continued to affect the operations of retail stores. The 5th wave of
Pandemic affected the sales in the last quarter, which led to decrease in the turnover
of both the cosmetics and fashion business segments of the Group, especially the
fashion business. During the year, the Group recorded a loss of HK$53,366,000
(2021: loss of HK$184,882,000), representing a decrease of 71.1% in loss as
compared with the same period last year.

During the year, the cosmetics business recorded a segment loss of HK$25,554,000
(2021: a loss of HK$104,898,000), and the fashion business recorded a segment
loss of HK$26,041,000 (2021: a loss of HK$34,318,000). During the year ended
31st March, 2022, the Group recognised impairment of property, plant and
equipment and right-of-use assets and has made provision for onerous lease
contracts of relevant loss-making stores together with provisions for inventories
and others. The said provisions amounted to approximately HK$9,172,000
(2021: HK$61,798,000) in aggregate. In addition, the loss for the year included
an increase in fair value of investment properties of HK$6,096,000 (2021: a
decrease in fair value of HK$28,929,000). Excluding the effect of the said non-
cash impairment, provisions and changes in the fair value of investment properties,
the Group would record a loss of approximately HK$50,290,000 in the financial
year (2021: a loss of HK$94,155,000), representing a decrease of 46.6% in loss
as compared with the same period last year. The loss recorded by the Group for
last year included approximately HK$43,066,000 received from governments in
respect of government anti-epidemic allowance and subsidies while the Group
received approximately HK$1,365,000 of such allowances or subsidies during the
year.
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Business Review (Continued)

Cosmetics Business

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had 58 Colourmix and MORIMOR cosmetics
stores (31st March, 2021: 69 stores) in total, of which 52 stores were located in
Hong Kong and 6 stores were located in Macau. During the year, the cosmetics
business of the Group was mainly supported by local consumption. The operations
of certain cosmetics stores at the border gateways were still suspended. During the
year, the turnover of the Group’s cosmetics business amounted to HK$342,099,000
(2021: HK$351,570,000), representing a slightly decrease of 2.7% as compared
with the same period last year. The cosmetics business recorded a segment loss
of HK$25,554,000 (2021: a loss of HK$104,898,000). During the year, the
Group recognised impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets of the loss-making cosmetics stores, and has made provision for onerous
lease contracts and inventories totalling HK$5,536,000 (2021: HK$47,166,000).
Excluding the effect of the said non-cash impairment and provisions, the cosmetics
business would have recorded a loss of approximately HK$20,018,000 for this
financial year (2021: a loss of HK$57,732,000), representing a decrease of 65.3%
in loss as compared with the same period last year.
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Business Review (Continued)

Fashion Business

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had a total of 82 ladies fashion stores (31st
March, 2021: 83 stores) under the brands Veeko and Wanko across Hong Kong,
Macau and the PRC, with 63 stores located in Hong Kong, 5 stores located
in Macau and 14 stores located in the PRC. During the year, the turnover of
the Group’s fashion business was HK$157,750,000 (2021: HK$165,676,000),
representing a decrease of 4.8% as compared with the same period last year.
The Group has recorded a segment loss of HK$26,041,000 (2021: a loss of
HK$34,318,000) for the fashion business segment. During the year, the Group
recognised the impairment of property, plant and equipment and right-of-use
assets and has made provision for onerous lease contracts of the loss-making
fashion stores. Together with inventories and other provisions, the Group has
made provision of approximately HK$3,636,000 (2021: HK$14,632,000) in
aggregate for the year ended 31st March, 2022. Excluding the effect of the said
non-cash impairment and provisions, the fashion business would have recorded
a loss of approximately HK$22,405,000 for the financial year (2021: a loss of
HK$19,686,000), representing an increase of 13.8% in loss as compared with the
same period last year.
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Prospects

The outbreak of the epidemic in early 2020 has since developed into a massive
transnational pandemic that has brought challenges to different industries and the
society as a whole. The Group has assessed the overall impact of the situation on its
business and has taken feasible and effective anti-epidemic measures to safeguard
the employees and customers. In face of an exceptionally difficult operating
environment, the management has taken a number of measures to reduce costs in
order to preserve working capital, including lowering inventory levels, stringently
controlling costs and expenditures, negotiating with landlords for rent concessions,
as well as closing down certain underperforming retail stores.

As the production resources of the Group’s fashion business are concentrated in
self-owned plant in China, we are able to control costs with flexibility. In face of
the tough operating environment, the Group has arranged for a further reduction in
production and leased out some of the floors to earn rental income.

The 5th wave Pandemic affected especially our fashion business during the last
quarter of the financial year, due to the tightened social distancing measures
enforced in Hong Kong. The gradual relaxation of social distancing measures,
together with the Consumption Voucher Scheme and the Employment Support
Scheme launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government, helped to facilitate the
retail market recovery. In April and May 2022, the same-store sales of fashion
business in Hong Kong recorded an increase of over 130% as compared with
February and March 2022. Together with the subsidies from government and the
measures of pre-approved principal payment holiday from various banks, the
Group’s bank balance and cash position as at 31st May, 2022 has been improved
over 50% as compared to amount as at 31st March, 2022.
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Prospects (Continued)

Looking ahead, given the Pandemic continues, it is expected that retail market
will continue to be dominated by local consumption in financial year 2022/2023,
and the number of visitors to Hong Kong is unlikely to recover in the short term.
In addition to physical retail stores, the Group will continue to collaborate with
well-known e-commerce platforms, such as Tmall Global, JD.com, WeChat Mini
Program, etc. The Group will focus on both online and offline businesses to drive
the growth of the cosmetics and fashion businesses, enhance brand awareness,
expand customer base.

Apart from leasing out some of the floors in its self-owned plant in China
mentioned above, the Group also leased out some of its properties located in Hong
Kong to further increase source of rental income. The Group is principally engaged
in cosmetics and fashion retail operations, but also holds investment properties
and self-occupied properties at the same time. Based on the valuation conducted
by Jones Lang LaSalle Limited and Jones Lang LaSalle Corporate Appraisal and
Advisory Limited, independent qualified professional valuers, the valuation of
such properties amounted to approximately HK$717,565,000 in aggregate as at
31st March, 2022. These properties also serve as financial support for the Group.
The Group will continue to manage its financial and cash position prudently.
Despite all the challenges ahead, the Group will continue to focus on its business
and take a number of contingency measures, including but not limited to continuing
to negotiating rent reduction with landlords, controlling inventory levels, and
stringently controlling costs and expenditures, with an aim to reach breakeven as
soon as possible.
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Liquidity & Financial Resources

At the end of the reporting period, the Group’s cash and bank balances (mainly in
Hong Kong dollar and Renminbi) amounted to HK$10,259,000 (31st March, 2021:
HK$47,114,000). The outstanding bank borrowings (mainly in Hong Kong Dollar)
amounted to HK$375,505,000 (31st March, 2021: HK$389,494,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the current ratio was 0.37 (31st March, 2021:
0.54) and the gearing ratio of the Group was 1.88 (31st March, 2021: 1.98) which
was calculated based on the Group’s total borrowings of HK$375,505,000 (31st
March, 2021: HK$389,494,000) and the total equity of HK$199,411,000 (31st
March, 2021: HK$196,416,000).

At 31st March, 2022, the Group had banking facilities amounting to
HK$443,038,000 (31st March, 2021: HK$479,571,000), of which
HK$386,355,000 (31st March, 2021: HK$395,166,000) was utilised by the Group.

For the details of the cash flow management of the Group, please refer to the
“Prospects” of the “Management Discussion and Analysis” section.

Foreign Exchange Exposure

Several subsidiaries of the Company have foreign currency purchases (mainly in
United States Dollar and Euro), which expose the Group to foreign currency risk.
Approximately 45% (2021: 57%) of purchases costs are in foreign currencies
for the year. The management closely monitors foreign exchange exposure and
will consider hedging significant foreign currency risk by entering into forward
contracts should the need arises.
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Pledge of Assets

At the end of the reporting period, the amount of assets pledged by the Group
to certain banks to secure general banking facilities granted to the Group was
HK$489,384,000 (31st March, 2021: HK$429,439,000).

Contingent Liabilities

At 31st March, 2022, the Company had provided guarantees of HK$740,915,000
(31st March, 2021: HK$737,388,000) to certain banks in respect of banking
facilities granted to certain subsidiaries of the Company.

Staff & Remuneration Policies

At 31st March, 2022, the Group had approximately 950 employees (31st March,
2021: approximately 1,100). The Group mainly determines staff remuneration
(including insurance and medical benefits) in accordance with the industry’s
practices. The Group also implemented a reward scheme for its staff based on their
individual performance. In addition to their basic remuneration and welfare, some
key employees were granted share options as reward and incentive to enhance their
loyalty to the Group.

Appreciation

On behalf of the Board, I would like to extend my heartfelt thanks to all the
employees for their devotion, contribution and diligence and my deepest gratitude
to all the shareholders, customers, suppliers and business partners for their
continuous support.

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman
Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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Annual Report 2022

The directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

Principal Activities

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of its
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business Review

Review and Performance of the Year and Principal Risks and Uncertainties

A review of the business of the Group during the year and its future development,
an analysis of the Group’s performance using financial key performance
indicators and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing the
Group are provided in the “Chairman’s Statement” section on pages 5 to 11 of
this annual report, which constitute part of this directors’ report. The financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group are shown in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Environmental Policies and Performance

The Company is committed to the sustainable development of the environment
and our society. The Group has endeavoured to comply with laws and regulations
regarding environmental protection and adopted effective environmental policies
to ensure its projects meet the required standards and ethics.

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations

During the year under review, as far as the Board of Directors (the “Board”) and
management are aware, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group that has a significant impact on the
businesses and operations of the Group.
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Key Relationships with Stakeholders

The Company recognises that our employees, customers and suppliers and business
associates are key stakeholders to the Company’s success. We strive to achieve
corporate sustainability through engaging our employees, providing quality
products and services to our customers, collaborating with business partners
(including suppliers and contractors) to deliver quality sustainable products and
services and supporting our community.

Results and Appropriations

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income on page
55 of the annual report.

No interim dividend was declared for the year. The Board has decided not to
declare a final dividend for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

Share Capital

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year are set
out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

Distributable Reserves of the Company

In the opinion of the directors, the Company’s reserves available for distribution
to its shareholders as at 31st March, 2022 amounted to HK$123,116,000 (2021:
HK$143,281,000), comprise of share premium amounting to HK$223,654,000
(2021: HK$223,654,000), contributed surplus amounting to HK$53,135,000 (2021:
HK$53,135,000) and net of accumulated loss amounting to HK$153,673,000
(2021: HK$133,508,000).
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Directors

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (Chairman)
Ms. LAM Yuk Sum (Chief Executive Officer)

Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin

Independent non-executive directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong
Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty
Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay

In accordance with article 108 of the Company’s Articles of Association, Mr.
Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Mr. Yeung Wing Kay shall retire by rotation at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company (“AGM”). Both of the above
retiring directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ Service Contracts

Each of the executive directors has entered into a service agreement with the
Company for a term of three years which should be renewable for each term of
three years until terminated by either party by three months’ prior written notice.
The non-executive director and each of the independent non-executive directors
has signed an appointment letter with the Company for a term of two years.

Save as disclosed above, none of the directors being proposed for re-election at the
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is
not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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Management Contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed during
the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year and up to the date of this directors’ report, a permitted indemnity
provision (as defined under section 469 of the Companies Ordinance Cap. 622 of
Laws of Hong Kong (“Companies Ordinance”)), for the benefit of the directors of
the Company has been and is still in force.

Biographies of Directors and Senior Management

Executive directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny (former name: Cheng Tsang Man), aged 65, is the
chairman of the Group. He is also the chairman of the nomination committee and
a member of the remuneration committee of the Board. He established the Group
in 1984 and is responsible for the overall strategic planning and formulation of
corporate policies of the Group. Mr. Cheng has over 38 years of experience in the
manufacturing and retail business. Mr. Cheng was awarded the Young Industrialist
Awards of Hongkong in November 2001 and the Ernst & Young Entrepreneur
Award of the Year 2012 China in November 2012. He is the husband of Ms. Lam
Yuk Sum.

Ms. LAM Yuk Sum, aged 62, is the chief executive officer of the Group and a
member of each of the remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board. She is responsible for the day-to-day management of the Group, specifically
the merchandising management and design and product development. She joined
the Group in 1987 and has over 35 years of experience in fashion design and retail
business. She is the wife of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny.
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Non-executive director

Mr. LAM Man Tin, aged 63, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 2nd February, 2016 and re-designated as a non-executive
director with effect from 13th July, 2018. He was a member of each of the audit
committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the Board from
2nd February, 2016 to 12th July, 2018. He graduated from the University of Hull
with a master degree in strategic marketing (distance learning) in July 1996. Mr.
Lam joined Aeon Stores Co., Ltd. in 1992 and has over 30 years of experience in
retail and service industries. He was an executive director of Aeon Stores (Hong
Kong) Co., Limited (“Aeon Stores HK”), a company listed on the Main Board of
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (stock code:
984) from May 1999 to May 2012. Mr. Lam served as the managing director of
Aeon Stores HK from May 2006 to May 2012. Following his resignation from the
board of directors of Aeon Stores HK, he was engaged as a consultant of Aeon
Stores HK until September 2012. Mr. Lam was an independent non-executive
director, a member of each of the audit committee and the remuneration committee
and the chairman of the nomination committee of S. Culture International Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 1255) from May 2013 to July 2017. He has been the chief executive officer
strategist of Shirble Department Store Holdings (China) Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 312) from September 2013
to July 2020. He is also the founding member of the Hong Kong Yau Yat Chuen
Lions Club.
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Independent non-executive directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong, aged 73, has been as an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 13th July, 2018. He is also a member of each of
the audit committee, the nomination committee and the remuneration committee
of the Board. He has obtained extensive experience in property leasing industry
since 1970. From March 1970 to December 2004, Mr. Au-Yeung worked at Sun
Hung Kai Real Estate Agency Limited and his last position was general manager at
the leasing department. Mr. Au-Yeung worked at The Link Management Limited
from December 2004 to October 2008 and his last position was head of project
leasing at the project leasing department. Mr. Au-Yeung was an independent non-
executive director, the chairman of the nomination committee, a member of each of
the remuneration committee and the audit committee of EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings
Limited (formerly known as Jia Meng Holdings Limited), a company listed on the
Growth Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8101), from August
2015 to April 2016.

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty, aged 75, has been an independent non-executive
director of the Company since 26th September, 2019. He is also a member of each
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and nomination committee of the
Board. Mr. Cheng has extensive experience in trading, sale and manufacturing of
toy products. He has been engaged in relevant business since 1968. Mr. Cheng
worked at various companies, including Nasta (Hong Kong) Limited, that were
principally engaged in trading, sale and manufacturing of toy products between
1968 and 2012.

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay, aged 69, has been an independent non-executive director
of the Company since 17th September, 2004. He is also the chairman of each of
the audit committee and remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is a Certified Public Accountant (Practising) and has
been a partner of Yeung & Cheuk, a firm of Certified Public Accountants in Hong
Kong for over 25 years. He graduated from the Chinese University of Hong Kong
with a degree of Bachelor of Social Sciences.
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Senior management

Mr. KWONG Chun Ming, Alex, aged 43, is the chief financial officer of the Group.
He joined the Group in September 2021. Mr. Kwong holds a Bachelor of Arts in
Accountancy from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University. He is a member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and a fellow member
of the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He has over 17 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Kwong
worked as chief financial officer and company secretary of Gain Plus Holdings
Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange (stock code:
9900) from May 2017 to September 2021. Besides, he worked in international
accounting firms for thirteen years.

Ms. WONG Chi Ying, aged 53, is the company secretary of the Company. Prior to
joining the Group in July 1996, Ms. Wong worked in an international accounting
firm for about four years. She holds a bachelor degree in accountancy from the City
University of Hong Kong. She is a fellow member of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants.

Equity-Linked Agreements

Save as the Share Option Scheme set out below, during the year ended 31st
March, 2022, the Company did not have newly entered or existing equity-linked
agreements.

Share Option Scheme

Pursuant to the AGM of the Company held on 30th August, 2013, the Company
approved and adopted a share option scheme. The remaining life of the share option
scheme is one year and five months as at 31st March, 2022.

Particulars of the share option scheme adopted by the Group are set out in note 26
to the consolidated financial statements.

No options were granted to the directors or substantial shareholders of the
Company during the year or outstanding under the share option scheme.
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TREBBZE-_S-_—_F=A=+—H1t The following table discloses details of options held by employees of the Group

FE AEERESFHAERENZER  and movements in such holdings during the year ended 31st March, 2022:
et 2 HEFE
R=B=-% REER REER REER REER  W-BoZF
BRTEE MA-R R i s %%  =R=t-H
Exercise pa 373 Granted Exercised Cancelled Lapsed BA{TE
FHAH fTEREES frEsE price Balance during during during during  Outstanding
Date of grant Vesting period Exercise period per share at 1.4.2021 the year the year the year theyear  at 31.3.2022
Z3-If ZE-WEMAZtRAE  ZE-NENAZTRAZE 0.30007# 7 1,620,000 - - - (1,620,000 -
BA=+HA “T-AFEAZTEA ZE--FEACTEA HKS03000
25th April, 2014 25th April, 2014 to 25th April, 2019 to
24th April, 2019 24th April, 2021
Tt ZZ-tE-ANBE ZE-EF-ANBE 0.1832% 7 2,500,000 - - - (2,500,000 -
—AnA ZB22E-f)\A bk S 2\ HKS0.1832
9th January, 2017 9th January, 2017 to 9th January, 2020 to
8th January, 2020 8th January, 2022
Tt ZR-tF-ANRE “EZZF-ANRE 0.1832% 7 2,500,000 - - - - 2,500,000
—-AnR ZEZZ5-A/\A ZZ_mE-ANA HKS$0.1832
9th January, 2017 9th January, 2017 to 9th January, 2022 to
8th January, 2022 8th January, 2024
i a3 ZEZ-F-fZtnAE  ZECRE-A-ThAZ 0.0534# 19,300,000 - - - (1,300,000) 18,000,000
—A=thB Z2omE-A=TNR ZBRE-AZTNE HKS0.0534
29th January, 2021 29th January, 2021 to 29th January, 2024 to
28th January, 2024 28th January, 2026
it b3 ZEZ-F5-fZthBE B E-RCthRE 0.0534# T 19,300,000 - - - (1,300,000) 18,000,000
—AZThE ZRIRE-AZTNR 2 \F-AZTNR HKS0.0534
29th January, 2021 29th January, 2021 to 29th January, 2026 to
28th January, 2026 28th January, 2028
i S ZEIECATARE ZECRECATAAR 0.050677 = 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
ZAT7E “ZCREZATEA S i HK$0.0506
16th February, 2022 16th February, 2022 to 16th February, 2025 to
15th February, 2025 15th February, 2027
Sl ZE-FCATARE ZECEECATAAZ 0.0506:# 7 - 5,150,000 - - - 5,150,000
ZAtiE I St il ZZoNECATERR HK$0.0506
16th February, 2022 16th February, 2022 to 16th February, 2027 to
15th February, 2027 15th February, 2029
45,220,000 10,300,000 - - (6,720,000) 48,800,000

AARIBROREZERERLIBH -
ZZFZ A+NHAEIMKTEAR0.058TT °

BRESETATRTZRMAHE A
136,434,7648% * 1[G ANHRE B AR BB %

TR AS%)5.42% ©
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Company as at the date of this report.

The closing price of the shares of the Company immediately before 16th February
2022, the date of grant of share options, was HK$0.05.

The total number of shares available for issue under the share option scheme is
136,434,764, represent approximately 5.42% of the issued share capital of the
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Directors’ and Chief Executive Officer’s Interests and Short
Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

As at 31st March, 2022, the interests of the directors and the chief executive officer

in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its associated

corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures

Ordinance (“SFO”)), as recorded in the register maintained by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) contained in the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”), were as

follows:

FENE Name of director
EREE ST Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
MEHRZ L Ms. Lam Yuk Sum

(TTB#B%) (Chief Executive Officer)
BfeE - %% % 1,393,347,737 B& 15 @ Silver  Note:

Crown Profits Limited ([ Silver Crown ])
E25HEA ° Silver CrownHI I (5 J5
% 1#{57EThe J Cheng Family Trust#)
ERAFREE  ZE2REINER
ABEBEXEERMERZLN
KGR E ©
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B Rty
Capacity/
Nature of interest

Bl AREFEREA
Founder and
Beneficiary of Trust

BEmEEA

Beneficial owner

SREXEA

Beneficiary of Trust

ERERA

Beneficial owner

FEEE R
ZRREE

Number of issued
ordinary shares held

1,393,347,737
(Hat)
(Note)

185,219,227

1,578,566,964

AAFE BT
RAEABED
Percentage of the
issued share capital
of the Company

62.69%

1,393,347,737
(Kiat)
(Note)

272,916,013

1,666,263,750

66.17%

These 1,393,347,737 shares are beneficially owned by Silver Crown Profits

Limited (“Silver Crown”). The shares in Silver Crown are in turn held by the
trustee of The J Cheng Family Trust, a discretionary trust, the discretionary
objects of which include family members of Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum.
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Other than disclosed above and certain nominee shares in subsidiaries held by
certain directors in trust for the Group, none of the directors and the chief executive
officer had any interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of part XV of the SFO) as at 31st March, 2022, as required to be recorded
in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the
Model Code.

Directors’ Rights to Acquire Shares or Debentures

Other than the share option scheme of the Company, at no time during the year was
the Company, its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries,
a party to any arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or
any other body corporate.

Independence of Independent Non-Executive Directors

The Company has received, from each of the independent non-executive directors,
an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules. The Company considers that all of the independent non-executive directors
are independent.

Directors’ Interests in Transactions, Arrangements or
Contracts of Significance

No transactions, arrangements or contracts of significance, to which the Company,
its holding company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party
and in which a director of the Company or an entity connected with a director (as
defined under Section 486 of the Companies Ordinance) had a material interest,
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during
the year.

Connected Transaction

The Company confirms that the related party transaction as disclosed in note 29 to
the consolidated financial statements is connected transaction that falls under the
de minimis transactions exemption and is fully exempt under Rule 14A.76 of the
Listing Rules.

Save as disclosed above, there were no other connected transactions/continuing
connected transactions which are required to be disclosed in this annual report in
accordance with the requirements of Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Name of shareholder

Silver Crown

Well Feel Group Limited
(“Well Feel”)

HSBC International Trustee Limited
(“HSBC International”)

Silver Crown 2 2 #B 2 81T A& 2N A Well FeeliF
A -+ MWell Feel JJHSBC International Z & &
M AR o RIEEF RS GEHEXVIBIEX
ZHRTE + Well Feel XHSBC International & B
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Substantial Shareholders’ Interests or Short Positions in
Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures

Other than disclosed above under the section headed “Directors’ and Chief
Executive Officer’s Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures” and other substantial shareholders’ interests disclosed in the following
table, at 31st March, 2022, the register of substantial shareholders maintained by
the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO showed that the Company had
not been notified by any persons (other than the directors and the chief executive
officer) of any other relevant interests or short positions in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company.

AATRE BT
FEAECRT REBDE
ZRREE Percentage of the

Number of issued

gt HEEtE

Capacity/Nature of interest

issued share capital

ordinary shares held of the Company

BEn#EAA 1,393,347,737 55.34%
Beneficial owner
{2 W (AT ) 1,393,347,737 55.34%
Interest of a controlled

corporation (Note)
EREA(HIEE) 1,393,347,737 55.34%

Trustee (Note)

Note:

The entire issued share capital of Silver Crown was held by Well Feel which in turn was
a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC International. By virtue of the provisions of Part
XV of the SFO, each of Well Feel and HSBC International was deemed to be interested
in all the shares of the Company in which Silver Crown was interested.
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Major Customers and Suppliers

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the Group’s five largest
suppliers accounted for 47.8% of the total purchases for the year and purchases
from the largest supplier included there is amounted to 22.6% whereas the
aggregate sales attributable to the Group’s five largest customers were less than
30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.

None of the directors, their close associates or any shareholders of the Company
(which to the knowledge of the directors own more than 5% of the Company’s
issued shares) had an interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or
suppliers.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles of
Association, or the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, being the jurisdiction in
which the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer
new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company.

Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed
Securities

During the year, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the senior management of the Group is set up by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and
competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are recommended to the Board by
the Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a share option scheme as an incentive to directors
and eligible employees and details of the scheme are set out in note 26 to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Sufficiency of Public Float

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the
knowledge of the directors, the Company has maintained a sufficient public float
throughout the year ended 31st March, 2022 and up to the latest practicable date
prior to the issue of this annual report as required under the Listing Rules.

Events after the Reporting Period

There is no material subsequent event undertaken by the Company or by the Group
after 31st March, 2022 and up to the date of this annual report.

Auditor

During the year, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu resigned as the auditor of the Company
and Ernst & Young was appointed by the Board to fill the casual vacancy so
arising. There have been no other changes of auditors in the past three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st March, 2022 have
been audited by Ernst & Young, who will retire at the conclusion of the AGM and
offer themselves for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the AGM to
re-appoint Ernst & Young as auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board
Cheng Chung Man, Johnny
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company hereby presents this
Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report for the year ended 31st
March, 2022.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

Recognising the importance of a publicly listed company’s responsibilities
to enhance its transparency and accountability, the Company is committed
to maintain a high standard of corporate governance in the interests of its
shareholders. The Board believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential in providing a framework for the Company to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and to enhance corporate value and accountability.

In December 2021, The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited has announced
amendments to the Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) as contained in
Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”). The new requirements
under the CG Code will apply to corporate governance reports of listed issuers
for financial year commencing on or after 1st January, 2022. Throughout the
year ended 31st March, 2022, the Company has applied the principles and code
provisions as set out in the CG Code applicable for the financial year under review
(the “then CG Code”).

The Board is of the view that the Company has complied with all the code
provisions as set out in the then CG Code throughout the year ended 31st March,
2022.

The Company continues to review its corporate governance practices in order
to enhance its corporate governance standard, to comply with the increasingly
tightened regulatory requirements and to meet the rising expectations of
shareholders and investors.
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors
of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules
as its own code of conduct regarding directors’ securities transactions. Having
made specific enquiries, all of the directors confirmed that they have complied with
the required standards as set out in the Model Code throughout the year ended 31st
March, 2022.

The Company has also established written guidelines on terms no less exacting
than the Model Code (the “Employees Written Guidelines™) for securities
transactions by employees who are likely to possess inside information of the
Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees Written Guidelines by
the employees was noted by the Company.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group’s businesses, strategic decisions and performance
and should take decisions objectively in the best interests of the Company.

The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a director to perform
his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the director is spending

sufficient time performing them.

Board Composition

The Board currently comprises six members, consisting of two executive directors,
one non-executive director and three independent non-executive directors.
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The following chart shows the diversity profile of the Board as at 31st March,
2022:

71-75 21-30

B
Management

EIN
Chinese
61-65 0-10
@
=HA
Accounting
R T PR T JE R —
i Fa485) IR A
L Length of .
Ethnicity Age Group . Expertise
Service

The biographical information of the directors are set out in the section headed
“Directors’ Report” on pages 15 to 17 of this annual report.

Save that Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and Ms. Lam Yuk Sum are husband

and wife, there are no financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationships among members of the Board.

27
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

There is a clear division in the roles of Chairman and Chief Executive Officer
which are performed by different individuals. This ensures a balanced distribution
of power and authority.

Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny, the Chairman of the Board, is responsible for the
leadership for and management of the Board, ensuring the effective functioning
of the Board and encouraging directors to make full and active contribution to the
Board’s affairs as well as ensuring that all significant and key issues are discussed
and where required, resolved by the Board in a timely manner.

Ms. Lam Yuk Sum, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, is responsible for
the day-to-day management of the Company. She is responsible for implementing
the Company’s strategy, objectives and policies approved and delegated by the
Board with the assistance of the senior management.

The husband and wife relationship between Mr. Cheng Chung Man, Johnny and
Ms. Lam Yuk Sum does not impair the balance of power between the Board and the
management as their duties and responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in

writing.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Company has at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at least
three independent non-executive directors with at least one of them possessing
appropriate professional qualifications, or accounting or related financial

management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each independent
non-executive director in respect of his independence in accordance with the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company is
of the view that all independent non-executive directors are independent.
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Non-executive Directors and Directors’ Election

Each of the directors of the Company is engaged on a service agreement (for
executive director) or an appointment letter (for non-executive director and
independent non-executive director) for a term of 3 and 2 years respectively. The
appointment of executive director may be terminated by either party by giving

three months’ prior written notice.

Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association (“Articles”), all directors of
the Company are subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years
at the Company’s annual general meeting and any director appointed by the Board
to fill a casual vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office until the
next following general meeting or the next following annual general meeting, as
the case may be, of the Company after his/her appointment and be subject to re-
election at such meeting.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board is responsible for the leadership and control of, and promoting the
success of the Company. This is achieved by the setting up of corporate and
strategic objectives and policies, and the monitoring and evaluations of operating
activities and financial performance of the Company.

All the directors carry out their duties in good faith and in compliance with
applicable laws and regulations, taking decisions objectively and acting in the
interests of the Company and its shareholders at all times.
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The Company has formalised and adopted written terms on the division of
functions reserved to the Board and those delegated to the management. The Board
reserves for its decision on major matters of the Company, including the approval
and monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets, internal control
and risk management systems, material transactions (in particular those that may
involve conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of directors and

other significant financial and operational matters.

The day-to-day management, administration and operations of the Company are
delegated to the Chief Executive Officer and senior management of the Company.
The Board has delegated a schedule of responsibilities to these officers for the
implementation of Board decisions. The Board periodically reviews the delegated
functions and work tasks. Prior to entering into any significant transactions, the
aforesaid officers have to obtain Board approval.

All directors have full and timely access to all relevant information as well as
the advice and services of the Company Secretary and senior management, with
a view to ensuring compliance with Board procedures and all applicable laws
and regulations. Any director may request independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances at the Company’s expense, upon reasonable request
being made to the Board.

Practices and Conduct of Meetings

The Board conducts at least four regular Board meetings a year and additional
meetings are arranged as and when required to discuss significant issues, either in
person or by means of electronic or other communication facilities. Schedules for
annual meeting and draft agenda of each meeting are sent to all directors in advance
to enable them to have an opportunity to include matters in the agenda. Notice of at
least 14 days is given of a regular Board meeting. For other Board and committee
meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable information are
despatched to all directors at least 3 days before each regular Board meeting to
ensure that the directors have sufficient time to review the related documents and
be adequately prepared for the meeting. The Board and each director also have
separate and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The Company Secretary is responsible to keep minutes of all Board meetings and
committee meetings. Draft minutes are circulated to all directors for comments
within a reasonable time after each meeting and the final versions are open for
directors’ inspection.

The Company’s Articles contains provisions requiring directors to abstain from
voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving transactions
in which such directors or any of their associates have a material interest.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in order to
effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their contribution to the
Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed director will receive formal, comprehensive and tailored
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full awareness
of directors’ responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant
statutory requirements.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Internally-facilitated briefings
for directors would be arranged and reading materials on relevant topics would be
provided to directors where appropriate.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the directors received the
following trainings during the year ended 31st March, 2022 with emphasis on their
roles, functions and duties as directors of a listed company:

F 3| 38 F (i)
Type of Training (Note)

Name of Directors

Executive Directors

Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny A, B

Ms. LAM Yuk Sum A, B

Non-executive Director

Mr. LAM Man Tin A, B

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong B

Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty B

Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay A, B

Note:

Types of Training

A: Attending training sessions, including but not limited to, briefings, seminars,
conferences and workshops

B: Reading relevant news alerts, newspapers, journals, magazines and relevant
publications

All the directors understand the importance of continuous professional
development and are committed to participating in any suitable training to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the Remuneration
Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Audit Committee, for overseeing
particular aspects of the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company
are established with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of all three committees are posted on the Company’s website and Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited’s website and are available to shareholders upon
request.

All members of the Audit Committee while the majority of the members of each
of the Remuneration Committee and Nomination Committee are independent
non-executive directors and the list of the chairman and members of each Board
committee is set out under “Corporate Information” on pages 2 to 4 of this annual
report.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s expense.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee consists of all directors of the Company except Mr.
Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-executive directors.

The principal functions of the Remuneration Committee include reviewing and
making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure
of all directors and senior management remuneration and on the remuneration
packages of all directors and senior management. The Remuneration Committee is
also responsible for establishing formal and transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no director or any of his/
her associates will participate in deciding his/her own remuneration, which
remuneration will be determined by reference to the performance of the individual
and the Company as well as market practice and conditions.
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The Remuneration Committee held five meetings during the year ended 31st
March, 2022. During the meetings, the Remuneration Committee has performed
the following work: (i) reviewing and recommending to the Board no bonus
payment to directors and senior management for the year 2021; (ii) reviewing
and recommending to the Board the salary packages of all directors and senior
management for the financial year 2022/2023; (iii) reviewing and recommending
to the Board regarding the remuneration package of the newly joined senior
management; (iv) reviewing and recommending to the Board regarding the
remuneration package of two independent non-executive directors upon renewal of
their respective appointment letters; and (v) reviewing and recommending to the
Board the granting of share options to senior management.

Senior Management’s Emoluments

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the then CG Code, details of the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than directors) by band for the
year ended 31st March, 2022 are as follows:

EEA#
Number of
employees

Not exceeding HK$1,000,000 4

Details of the remuneration of each of the directors for the year ended 31st March,
2022 are set out in note 8 to the consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee consists of all directors of the Company except Mr.
Lam Man Tin, the majority of them are independent non-executive directors.

The principal duties of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure,
size and composition of the Board, identifying individuals suitably qualified
to become Board members, making recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and succession planning for directors, and assessing the independence
of independent non-executive directors.
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The Nomination Committee reviews annually the structure, size and composition
of the Board and where appropriate, make relevant recommendations on changes to
the Board to complement the Company’s corporate strategy. In assessing the Board
composition and identifying and selecting suitable candidates for directorships,
the Nomination Committee would take into account various aspects set out in the
Board Diversity Policy to implement the corporate strategy of the Company. The
Nomination Committee would discuss and agree on measurable objectives for
achieving diversity on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Nomination Committee held two
meetings to recommend to the Board on the renewal of appointment of two
independent non-executive directors, to review the structure, size and composition
of the Board, to assess the independence of the independent non-executive
directors, and to consider the qualifications of the retiring directors standing for
election at the annual general meeting.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has adopted a Board Diversity Policy which sets out the approach to
achieve diversity of the Board. The Company recognises and embraces the benefits
of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the Board level as an
essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage.

Pursuant to the Board Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will review
annually the structure, size and composition of the Board and where appropriate,
make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s
corporate strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse
profile. In relation to reviewing and assessing the Board composition, the
Nomination Committee is committed to diversity at all levels and will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and
regional and industry experience.

The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives
that are relevant to the Company’s business growth and is also committed to
ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the Board
downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are
considered.
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The Board will consider setting measurable objectives to implement the Board
Diversity Policy and review such objectives from time to time to ensure their
appropriateness and ascertain the progress made towards achieving those
objectives.

At present, the Nomination Committee considered that the Board is sufficiently
diverse and effective to complement the Company’s corporate strategy.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy, as appropriate,
to ensure its effectiveness.

Nomination Policy

The Board has delegated its responsibilities and authority for selection and
appointment of Directors to the Nomination Committee of the Company.

The Company has adopted a Nomination Policy which sets out the selection
criteria and process and the Board succession planning considerations in relation
to nomination and appointment of directors of the Company and aims to ensure
that the Board has a balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives
appropriate to the Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level.

The Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability and the
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not
limited to the following:

. age, skills, knowledge, experience, expertise, professional and educational
qualifications, background, and other personal qualities of the candidates;

. effect on the Board’s composition and diversity;

. commitment of the candidate to devote sufficient time to effectively carry
out his/her duties. In this regard, the number and nature of offices held by
the candidate in public companies or organisations, and other executive
appointments or significant commitments will be considered;
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. potential/actual conflicts of interest that may arise if the candidate is
selected;

. independence of the candidate;

. in the case of a proposed re-appointment of an independent non-executive

director, the number of years he/she has already served; and

. other factors considered to be relevant by the Nomination Committee on a
case by case.

The Nomination Policy also sets out the procedures for the selection and
appointment of new Directors and re-election of Directors at general meetings.
During the year ended 31st March, 2022, there was no change in the composition
of the Board.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-executive directors
with the chairman of which possesses the appropriate professional qualifications
and accounting expertise. None of the committee members is a former partner of
the Company’s external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee are: to oversee the Company’s
relationship with the external auditor; to review the financial information; to
oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, risk management and internal
control systems; and to review the effectiveness of the internal audit function,
arrangements to enable employees to raise concerns about possible improprieties in
financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Audit Committee held nine meetings
of which the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer attended eight
of these meetings. A summary of work performed by the Audit Committee during
the year was as follows:

(1) reviewed and commented on audited annual results for the year ended 31st
March, 2021 and unaudited interim results for the six months ended 30th
September, 2021 respectively;
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(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

v)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

(ix)

reviewed the business performance for the three months ended 30th June,
2021 and nine months ended 31st December, 2021;

confirmed no disagreement in relation to the resignation of the existing
auditor, Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu;

reviewed the scope of audit work, auditor’s remuneration and terms of
engagement and recommending the appointment of the new auditor, Ernst
& Young;

reviewed the service proposal presented by the new auditor, Ernst &
Young;

reviewed the effectiveness of the systems of financial reporting and internal
control including financial, operational and compliance controls and risk
management functions of the Group;

reviewed and approved the internal audit plan for financial years
2022/2023, 2023/2024 and 2024/2025;

reviewed the questionnaires issued by the Audit Committee and answered
by the executive directors; and

reviewed the connected transaction in respect of the extension of lease of
premises situated at Ground Floor and Cockloft, No. 84 San Hong Street
North New Territories, Hong Kong.

The Audit Committee also reviewed the reports on the latest progress of internal
audit assignments and enterprise risk management project.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditor once without the presence of the

executive directors and the management.

The Company’s annual results for the year ended 31st March, 2022 have been
reviewed by the Audit Committee.

There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee regarding

the appointment and resignation of the external auditor.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code provision
D.3.1 of the then CG Code.
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The Board has reviewed the Company’s corporate governance policies and
practices, training and continuous professional development of directors and senior
management, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance with legal
and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and Employees
Written Guidelines, and the Company’s compliance with the then CG Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

ATTENDANCE RECORDS OF DIRECTORS AND
COMMITTEE MEMBERS

The attendance records of each director at the Board and Board Committee
meetings and the general meeting of the Company held during the year ended 31st
March, 2022 are set out in the table below:

HERY, EERH
Attendance/Number of Meetings
BRRBFAE
FMEES REZEE EREEE Annual
EZE2 Remuneration Nomination Audit General
BEERR Name of Directors Board Committee Committee Committee Meeting
HITEE Executive Directors
BEF K Mr. CHENG Chung Man, Johnny 15/15 5/5 212 i 1/1
N/A
MEFLZ LT Ms. LAM Yuk Sum 15/15 5/5 212 T 1/1
N/A
FHITEE Non-executive Director
ISR & Mr. LAM Man Tin 12/15 TEA TEA TER 1/1
N/A N/A N/A
BUHHITEE Independent Non-executive Directors
BEEExE Mr. AU-YEUNG Hau Cheong 13/15 5/5 212 9/9 1/1
B RS A Mr. CHENG Man Loong, Monty 13/15 5/5 212 9/9 1/1
TKELE Mr. YEUNG Wing Kay 12/15 5/5 212 9/9 1/1

BEiEREEHIN  TRTRFAEHR
TEERIFATEFRFE BN TRBT
FMITERRITT —REGH -

Besides the above—mentioned Board meetings, the Chairman also held a meeting
with the independent non-executive directors without the presence of executive
director and non-executive director during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31st March, 2022 and
ensure that the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the state of affairs of the Group and are prepared in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards.

As disclosed in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements in this annual
report, in preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors have
given careful consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group
and its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern, in view of the Group
incurred a net loss of HK$53,366,000 during the year ended 31st March, 2022
and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its current assets by
HK$320,729,000.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projection
prepared by management, which includes revenue and expenditure growth of
the business, working capital needs, and the continuing renewal of the banking
facilities. They are of the opinion that, after taking into account the measures
implemented or being implemented, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operation and to meet its financial obligations for at least the next
twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022
on a going concern basis.

The Company’s external auditor, Ernst & Young, has issued an unmodified
opinion with a “Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern” section in the
“Independent Auditor’s Report”. Please refer to the “Independent Auditor’s
Report” from page 47 of this annual report for details.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting
responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out in the Section
headed “Independent Auditor’s Report” on pages 47 to 54 of this annual report.
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

Ernst & Young (“EY”) has been appointed as the new auditor of the Company with
effect from 9th November, 2021 to fill the casual vacancy following the resignation
of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu (“Deloitte”). An analysis of the remuneration paid/
payable to the Company’s external auditors in respect of audit services and non-
audit services for the year ended 31st March, 2022 is set out below:

e ENER
RI&ER Category of Services Fee Paid/Payable
T
HK$’000
1% BN ARS Audit Service
—T1EE — to Deloitte 480
—F 2K ~to EY 2,400
2,880
R T 1= Non-audit Services to Deloitte
— B ARE — Tax service 140
—HiEZER® — Other professional services 93
&t TOTAL 3,113
R EE R ATBE RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
BEERBE®N Objective and Purpose

tERBREEHREREEBKETEEM
BEZ -EFENEEEAERIMONE
REBKREMESZEAR  XEEMEE
BNERRR EFSREEBAEEZ
B R S E AR 2 SRR RS - WRER R
RERZANE BEEEHRAKEDR
YRAREE AR ZRAREERARE
BES NEHEERE - ZEZREER
BAHERRA SRR IRH S IR IR A
FRE - AERTIREEMIEBERRA
SEEBREHMAREEERKERZE

-

Enterprise risk management is fundamental and essential to the achievement of
the Group’s strategic objectives. The Board of Directors and the management are
responsible for identifying and analyzing the risks underlying the achievement of
business objectives, and for determining how such risks should be managed and
mitigated. The Board oversees the Group’s potential risks and their respective
mitigation strategies and ensures risk management effectiveness. The Board
ensures that the Group has established and maintained a proper and effective risk
management and internal control systems, as well as reviewing the effectiveness of
the systems. The systems can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss, as they are designed to manage, rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives during the Group’s
business operation.
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Main Features of the Risk Management and Internal Control
Systems

The Board, through the Audit Committee, assesses on an annual basis the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems of the Group,
which covers all material controls, including financial, operational, compliance, as
well as considers the sufficiency of budget with respect to resources, employees’
capabilities and experience, training courses and the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting function. Significant issues from internal audit department,
external professional consultants and management letters from external auditor are
brought to the attention of the Audit Committee to ensure that prompt remedial
action is taken. All recommendations will be properly followed up to ensure they
are implemented within a reasonable period of time.

The Company has an Internal Audit Department to handle the internal audit
function. The Internal Audit Department is responsible for performing independent
review of the adequacy and effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems. The Board has reviewed the effectiveness of the internal audit
function and the review result is satisfactory.

Risk Management Framework and Major Tasks

The management of daily operations of the Company’s business departments is
based on the Company’s corporate risk management framework. The corporate
risk management framework addresses four risk categories, including strategic,
financial, operation and compliance risks.

There is Risk Management Taskforce (“RMT”) which seek to monitor the risks of
the Group. The RMT was made up of members of senior management, who reports
to the Board of Directors on matters of significance that arise. The RMT reports
via the Audit Committee to the Board. The RMT oversees the risk owners, who
are responsible for inventory management, information technology, marketing and
operation, etc. The risk owners reported to the RMT their involved risks and the
planned measures to mitigate those risks.

. During the current year, the RMT held two meetings.
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. The meetings involved the discussion of the existing risks and measures to
mitigate those risks and the RMT have re-assessed the top 10 priority risks
of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

The management has confirmed to the Board and the Audit Committee on the
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31st March, 2022. The Board, as supported by the Audit Committee as
well as the management report and the internal audit findings, reviewed the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group, including the financial,
operational and compliance controls, for the year ended 31st March, 2022, and
considered that such systems are effective and adequate. The annual review also
covered the financial reporting and staff qualifications, experience and relevant
resources.

Arrangements are in place to facilitate employees of the Company to raise, in
confidence, concerns about the possible improprieties in financial reporting,
internal control or other matters of the Group.

For the handling and dissemination of inside information, a Disclosure Policy has
been adopted by the Board since August 2013 with an aim to provide a general
guide to the directors, officers, senior management and relevant employees of the
Company in handling of confidential information and/or monitoring of information

disclosure pursuant to applicable laws and regulations.

The control procedures were stated and identified in the Disclosure Policy. The
Company has procedures in place to keep information confidential and manage
actual or potential conflicts of interest. The Company has an Internal Audit
Department to handle the internal audit functions, which reports directly to the
Audit Committee and the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and also reports
the matters concerning internal control of the Company for the year ended 31st
March, 2022 to the Audit Committee during its regular meetings.

colourmixe MoriMor O  VeCK)  Wanko

SERBRA A

43



44

VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

ERERBES

Corporate Governance Report

N,

NRWE

BEERZTE-NMNANER—EALRAQH
ZRBWE BEZE-_—_F=A=+—
ALEFE  ExtBBFTEMAAUHEER
& RIFINZHE °

R SR AEF

AR R E D RAERN  ARBRBIRA
ERZEANERNEE(REEEENES)
REBIARR  UWHERZERREER -
FIERBERAE LR2ZRERBRIE L
MARARRBEEEETARR - RRER
REBRAGERETIERNAR B RES
R RERMAR AR - FHAKRER
FITAAE EEH AR -

BRREMRREFARE

RIFRABMAF641% - R R AEA
fE—fisk oA ERRR (B AR R RS
EREZARBDEHEBRANLR 52
—)BERTURH - AWERANEET
ARARAWERN - ETIBRHREEZE
B WHBELERSE - WRARE DA
BIPTHL 2 MRE RIZFITE -

RBRRASLEHES

REAMAEREBEES R ADEL ERTIEH
BRM AR R & EIR 2FVRFBR Z &
BEERBABRR R AIRE L BRE A
M RFMARREKBRAKRRAS

BRRZAEZERARAES  F2H
ARRMEUAE [RERAANERESE
ESOEESS I

Annual Report 2022

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chi Ying has been the Company Secretary of the Company since 1999.
Ms. Wong complied with the qualification and training requirements under the
Listing Rules for the year ended 31st March, 2022.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholders’ interests and rights, a separate resolution is proposed
for each substantially separate issue in general meetings, including the election of
individual directors, for shareholders’ consideration and voting. All resolutions
put forward in general meetings are taken by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules
and the poll results are posted on the websites of the Company and of Hong Kong
Exchanges and Clearing Limited after each general meeting. Detailed procedures
for conducting a poll are also explained during the proceedings of meetings.

Convening an Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Extraordinary general meetings may be convened on the requisition of one or
more shareholders holding not less than one tenth of the paid up capital of the
Company having the right of voting at general meetings pursuant to article 64 of
the Company’s Articles. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Company
Secretary, stating the business to be transacted, and signed by the requisitionist(s).
Shareholders should follow the requirements and procedures as set out in the
Company’s Articles.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Company’s Articles or the Cayman Islands
Companies Act for shareholders to move new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the Company to convene
a general meeting in accordance with the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

As regards proposing a person for election as a director of the Company, please
refer to the “Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for Election as a
Director” which is posted on the Company’s website.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the Board of the Company, shareholders may
send written enquiries to the Company.

Note: The Company normally will not deal with verbal or anonymous enquiries.

Contact Details

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to the
following:

Address: 10/F., Wyler Centre Phase II, 192-200 Tai Lin Pai Road, Kwai Chung,
New Territories, Hong Kong
(For the attention of the Company Secretary)
Fax: (852) 2310 9017
Email: contact@veeko.com.hk
Shareholders are encouraged to provide, amongst other things, in particular,
their email addresses to the Company in order to facilitate timely and effective
communication.

For the avoidance of doubt, shareholder(s) must deposit and send the original duly
signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case may be) to
the above address and provide their full name, contact details and identification
in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders’ information may be disclosed as
required by law.

INVESTOR RELATIONSHIP

Communications with shareholders and investors

The Company endeavors to maintain a high level of transparency in
communicating with shareholders and the investment community at large.
The Company is committed to continue to maintain an open and effective
communication policy and to update shareholders, investors and general
public on relevant information on its business in a timely manner, subject to
relevant regulatory requirements, through the annual reports, interim reports,
announcements and other corporate communications.
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The Board welcomes shareholders’ views on matters affecting the Group, and
encourages their attendance at general meetings to communicate any concerns they
may have with the Board or management directly. The Company’s annual general
meeting is an especially important forum. In order to encourage and facilitate
shareholders’ attendance at its annual general meeting, the Company gives at least
20 clear business days’ prior notice together with a detailed agenda. The Chairman
of the Board and the chairman of each Board committees (or their delegates) are
available to answer questions at general meetings.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Company maintains
a website at www.irasia.com/listco/hk/veeko/index.htm, where up-to-date
information and updates on the Company’s structure, board of directors,
announcements, financial information and other information are posted.

Constitutional document

During the year under review, there was no change in the Company’s Articles. An
up-to-date version of the Company’s Articles is also available on the websites of
the Company and Hong Kong Exchanges and Clearing Limited.

Policies relating to Shareholders

The Company has in place a Shareholders’ Communication Policy to ensure
that shareholders’ views and concerns are appropriately addressed. The policy is
regularly reviewed to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company has adopted a Dividend Policy on payment of dividends. The
Company do not have any pre-determined dividend payout ratio. Depending on the
financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the conditions and factors
as set out in the Dividend Policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by
the Board during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be
subject to the shareholders’ approval.
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Quarry Bay, Hong Kong  Kiyti—RE274E

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS
LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Veeko International
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred
to as the “Group”) set out on pages 55 to 171, which comprise the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 31st March, 2022, and the consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for
the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st March, 2022, and
of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which
indicates that the Group incurred a net loss of HK$53,366,000 during the year
ended 31st March, 2022 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by HK$320,729,000. These conditions, along with other
matters as set forth in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, indicate the
existence of a material uncertainty which may cast significant doubt on the Group’s
ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this
matter.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the
matter described in the Material Uncertainty related to Going Concern section,
we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters to be
communicated in our report.
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BRETSEE

Key audit matter

FITZETITEONEREBRETEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

BEFIZEX BERREUREHFIZEFREE(EER FX)ZHETE
Impairment assessment of the Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets (as defined below)

RER - TEEXEB T RERE TIHERDEENRERRIEN -
LER X BEEER-_ZT__F=A=+-BREHESHR
4,837,000;‘%3€ 7T % 67,089,000 T 2 HEBFRE - B Ri#
CERALREEUARRAZERE((ERBRIZESE - BE KRR
ﬁD&EEEﬁ&%”*%¥ZEﬁ%§EUEﬁﬂZE%%
BED -
The decline in retail business in the year has resulted in an
increased risk of impairment of certain non-current assets,
in particular, the Group’s leasehold improvement, plant and
machinery, furniture and fixtures and office equipment (“Identified
PPE”) and right-of-use assets of retail stores and office properties
(“Identified ROU assets”) with carrying amount of HK$4,837,000
and HK$67,089,000 respectively, as at 31st March, 2022.

RBEEZZ__F=A=+—HIFE  REEBED R
308,000/& 7T 124,465,000/ 7T * AR EBIIZEE - BEKRE
RE#MzEREEE 2 RAEREZEATKEISEHE -

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, impairment losses of
HK$308,000 and HK$4,465,000 were provided to write down the
carrying amount of Identified PPE and Identified ROU assets to
their recoverable amounts, respectively.

EEECEREDBBERNTRASRBN(EREEEYM
BERNBHARBERR)EREEEMBNERNTEEH
ETHEREEFE  KEMEEXFEENTRESRE - 6
IE%A%%E%E%&¥@ ENXRRFTEE o HEATR
B BEFEZERITEFEREER - RARRTEZE
éé%T%@ﬁﬁ&&%ﬁEﬁE&ﬁﬁiE SR B A
Bz &/MERIZAGE B RR Rt T8 & B A b at T B
£ BMATTRULRSRRETZR -
The recoverable amounts of these assets have been determined
by the management of the Group by applying the value in use
calculations of individual retail stores to which these assets belong
using the discounted cash flow forecasts based on management’s
expectations of the market development and the past performance,
where the key input parameters include forecasted revenue, gross
profit margins and discount rates. The outcome of impairment
assessment could vary significantly when different assumptions
are applied. Due to inherent estimation uncertainty pertaining to
the assumptions and estimations required to assess the recoverable
amounts of these assets or the cash-generating unit or the smallest
group of cash generating units to which these assets belong, we
considered this as a key audit matter.

HARBRENGE M RRMEES - 14K15
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14 and 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RITREBRIZES - W%& RIEEARE BRI ZERAEEEZRE
BV PA Sy Y )

Our audit procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of the
Identified PPE and the Identified ROU assets included:

. B EEERFAZEREEZAERREILHZFE
. Reviewed the Group’s calculation of value in use, and the
calculation of impairment charges during the year;

. EFERTAMBEEERATAEREESEMROFTERE
. Involved our internal specialists to evaluate the discount rate
used in the value in use calculation;

. AEHEREEFE(REEEEHRALEEREN XD
M (E2ZHETEERH2BERE) BT SERNE
B BERBERARRZETE)EHEREMREHORR
fl&t

. Assessed the assumptions and estimates adopted by
management in the value in use calculations including
forecasted revenue and gross profit margins with reference to
the past performance of relevant retail stores, expectations on
the market development and the future operating plans of the
Group;

. REBEASEETEERMEAERNZXE  ENXRFREW
AREE L - FIAHEAEERHENTE R
. Evaluated the impact on the value in use calculations based
on the possible changes of the forecasted revenue, gross profit
margins and discount rates applied by the management of the
Group; and

. FHEF A M MRT BRI ERDEERELHERD A -
. Assessed the adequacy of disclosures about impairment of non-
current assets in the consolidated financial statements.
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Key audit matter

REYF2Z1E

Valuation of investment properties

RZZE_Z_F=FR=+—-—H  EBE5EEFKREVZE
447,692,000/8 7T * 1h B EHEE 2 58.95% * WIR R FEEFE -
As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had investment properties of
HK$447,692,000, which represented 58.95% of the total assets and
were measured at fair value.

REMENGHEAEBRBZENB LS ERMEEL ([ HER])
ETE - MEDIRNEEDERERZ TZR AR (2EFER
BIEH Z2E) - REEREMEZAFEER @ HEMZSEE
ZRAZHHIMERNELLE - BFHR CRZWEAEURE
U ZARZ5ER - AREEREMELTEERAH
BEREMGANEFET 2 BTN - ATHER S —HARE
FHEIE -

The valuation of investment properties was determined by
independent qualified valuers (the “Valuers”) engaged by
management. The valuations are dependent on the valuation
method and key inputs to the model that includes judgements
made by the management. In determining the fair value of the
investment properties, the Valuers considered key input parameters
such as capitalisation rates, monthly market rent per square foot/
meter and recent transaction price of similar properties. Due to
inherent estimation uncertainty pertaining to the assumptions
and estimations required when determining the fair value of the
investment properties, we considered this as a key audit matter.

HEARBEEN G M ERRMTIR13
The relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 13 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RITZBGF TENMEREBREESTER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RITHIREMEGERR 2 B ETEIE
Our audit procedures in relation to valuation of investment properties
included:

. FHARERMNE L - Bt FEMEREE
. Evaluated the objectivity, independence, expertise and
competence of the Valuers;

. BEMERBEE  BEEREEE  mEAME  HRX
K5 AL E B

. Reviewed the property related data, including the capitalisation
rate, monthly market rent, discount rate and market unit selling

price;

. BHEARTAREEER B E S GG EMAARANEE
TEFRER

. Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in
evaluating the valuation methodologies and assumptions
adopted by the Valuers; and

. FHEEGEMBREARENELHEERNRERT R
4 e

. Assessed the adequacy of disclosures relating to the valuation
of investment properties in the consolidated financial
statements.
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Other Information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the annual report, other than the
consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do
SO.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

J Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not
for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s

internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the
directors.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)
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Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern
basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a
material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated
financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the
consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to express
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements (Continued)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent auditor’s report
is Lam Wai Ming, Ada.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 29th June, 2022
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FERBRHMZERAR

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

BE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2022 2021
Htst FTER FET
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
HER Revenue 4 499,849 517,246
SHERA Cost of goods sold (303,633) (321,356)
EF Gross profit 196,216 195,890
H At U A K U 58 F 58 Other income and gains, net 5 27,074 59,784
$HE R SHAA Selling and distribution costs (190,285) (254,390)
THER Administrative expenses (78,077) (77,278)
HEMERNTEE Changes in fair value of investment
#a) properties 6,096 (28,929)
JEW R FRE s TEE{ZEEEi8 2 Reversal/(provision) of expected credit
Bl (BHE) loss for trade receivables 2,000 (1,466)
EX  BEREEZRE Impairment of property, plant and
equipment (308) (3,873)
FERAEEEZRE Impairment of right-of-use assets (4,465) (53,619)
BEE A Finance costs 7 (10,682) (15,438)
KREiRIE 18 Loss before tax 6 (52,431) (179,319)
FEBFAX Income tax expense 10 935) (5,563)
REEEHIE Loss for the year (53,366) (184,882)
AEEHMEE Other comprehensive income for the
WA year
RE 1 §mEBNHHE Item that will not be reclassified
fEm 2 IH A subsequently to profit or loss
MEE Rz K= Gain on revaluation of properties,
(FBRIEIEFATE ) net of deferred tax 51,562 17,622
BZApEEHHIEZE Item that may be reclassified
BmsHA subsequently to profit or loss
MEBINEBELE L Exchange differences arising on
BN =5 translation of foreign operations 4,644 9,253
REFEMEE Other comprehensive income
U ON for the year 56,206 26,875
AEFREEEA S (EE) Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the year 2,840 (158,007)
ISUNSIES LS YN/ ¥ Loss per share attributable to ordinary
S E1E equity holders of the parent 12
—ZARCGEW) — Basic (in HK cents) (2.119) (7.342)
D16 1] — Diluted (in HK cents) (2.119) (7.342) 55
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
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At 31st March, 2022

Non-current Assets
Investment properties
Property, plant and equipment
Right-of-use assets
Rental deposits paid

Total Non-current Assets

Current Assets
Inventories
Trade receivables
Prepayment and other receivables
Rental and utility deposits paid
Tax recoverable
Cash and cash equivalents

Total Current Assets

Current Liabilities

Trade payables

Other payables and accruals
Rental deposits received
Interest-bearing bank borrowings
Lease liabilities

Provision

Tax payable

Total Current Liabilities
Net Current Liabilities
Total Assets Less Current Liabilities
Non-current Liabilities
Other payables
Rental deposits received
Deferred tax liabilities
Lease liabilities
Total Non-current Liabilities
Net Assets
Equity
Share capital

Reserves

Total Equity

Cheng Chung Man, Johnny

Chairman

Lam Yuk Sum
Director

Hiat
Notes

13
14
15(a)

17
18
16

19

20

22
15(b)
23

21

24
15(b)

25

2022 2021
FTHET TR
HK$’000 HK$°000
447,692 338,349
43,501 95,889
70,426 58,046
7,949 16,991
569,568 509,275
124,945 195,156
2,475 5,406
9,682 11,570
42,395 43,381
126 123
10,259 47,114
189,882 302,750
9,511 7,866
51,361 44,870
521 124
375,505 389,494
72,819 114,939
593 1,209

301 270
510,611 558,772
(320,729) (256,022)
248,839 253,253
2,388 2,542
1,972 1,194
15,810 12,724
29,258 40,377
49,428 56,837
199,411 196,416
25,180 25,180
174,231 171,236
199,411 196,416
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BEBERZERBRA AR

GEREREER
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

HE-_Z-_—F=RA=t+—HIHFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
REER
WEER BRE (ZRER)
=1 g Retained
RE  RMEE Property  EREE  WNRE LERE Share profits
Share Share  revaluation ~ Translation Special  Statutory option (accumulated &
capital  premium’ reservet reserve* reserve!  reserves* reserve’ losses)* Total

Wdw)  (WEy)  (BEe)
(Note ()] (Note(b))  (Note(c))
TET TEL TET TiEn FAT AL TAT TEL AT
HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HKS$000

RZZZZFMA-A At Ist April, 2020 25,180 23654 17971 (5.222) 2,266 u 1,153 89,338 354,364
KERBR Loss for the year - - - - - - S (18488 (18488)
TEEEMEEMA : Other comprehensive income for

the year:
NREE NG Gain on revaluation of properties, net

(MBETHE) of deferred tax - - 17,622 - - - - - 17,622

BEENEHBEEZEYEE  Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations - - - 9,253 - - - - 9,253
FEELLEER Total comprehensive loss

for the year - - 17,622 9,253 - - - (184,882)  (158,007)
BREREE RS Recognition of equity-settled share-

BERZER based payments - - - - - - 59 - 59
BRMZERE Share options lapsed - - - - - - (829) 829 -
HHE-RMBAFEENZ  Release of special reserve upon

il deregistration of a subsidiary - - - - (598) - = 598 -
RZ2-—E=A=+-BR As3lst March, 2021 and

“3--%mA-A 1st April, 2021 25,180 203,654 35,593 4031 1,668 u 383 O4117) 196416
KEEBR Loss for the year - - - - - - - (33366 (33,366)
TEEEMEENA : Other comprehensive income

for the year:
HEEL P e Gain on revaluation of properties,

(g E) net of deferred tax - - 51,562 - - - - - 51,562
BEENEHELZEYEE  Exchange differences arising on

translation of foreign operations - - - 4,644 - - - - 4,644
TEEEZEWA Total comprehensive income

for the year - - 51,562 4,644 - - - (53,366) 2840
EREREE 2 RA Recognition of equity-settled

BERVER share-based payments - - - - - - 155 - 155
BAMEE Share options lapsed - - - - - - (47 w7 -
ATRE EY Transfer of statutory reserve - - - - - 4,004 - (4,004) -
RZE--F=A=+-F  At3lstMarch, 2022 25,180 223,654 87,155 8,675 1,668 4,028 291 (151,240) 199411
8 ZERBROFEEAMBMKRIERA @ These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of HK$174,231,000

K 4R A RE# 174,231,000 T (=& (2021: HK$171,236,000) in the consolidated statement of financial position.

——%F : 171,236,000 7T) °
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

GEREEBR
Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=t—HLFE

sz -

(a)

(b)

(©)

WEEGMRBELIEERERER
MEBETERERE RRAF(E
BEARZEEMERES -

AEBNERHEDETIME
ZHEA

@ HR - hFEHE
& A - Veeko Holdings
Limited ¥ X AN EI A2
RIBTIERKBERENR
AEERZERE &

(ii) Veeko Holdings Limited
SHEAFBANERA R
S ) PN & N: o
#8 T {8 #2 Veeko Holdings
Limited B1TER YW BERE
BIRAE(ER) ZHE

RIEF BARRERRER - RF
Bt 0 AN £ B HE T 2 RIS B
TEaFGEEEMBEFERER
BINETEIOLEEZERES &
BEREFHEACE —MBEASHR
Al3tE - BB nEEE s
ARH)S0% R+ BI3E 12 1 VF HH 1A
H— SRR SAE B AER
EAFBEIEMER - A -
RZERBRBETEBBRERNE
BRBERNERBERNED25% °

Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31st March, 2022

Note:

(a)

(b)

(c)

The property revaluation reserve arose from a change in use from an owner-
occupied property to an investment property carried at fair value upon the
date of the transfer.

The special reserve of the Group represents the aggregate of:

(1) the difference between the nominal value of share capital of Veeko
Holdings Limited and the nominal value of the share capital issued
by the Company as consideration for the acquisition, arisen from the
group reorganisation in 1999; and

(i) the difference between the aggregate nominal value of the share
capital of the subsidiaries when they were acquired by Veeko
Holdings Limited prior to the group reorganisation and the nominal
value of the share capital issued by Veeko Holdings Limited as
consideration for the acquisition.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC, the companies
comprising the Group which are registered in the PRC shall appropriate
a certain percentage of their net profit after tax (after offsetting any
prior years’ losses) calculated under the accounting principles generally
applicable to the PRC enterprises to reserve funds. When the balance of
this reserve reaches 50% of the entity’s capital, any further appropriation is
optional. The statutory reserve can be utilised to offset prior years’ losses
or to increase capital. However, the balance of the statutory surplus reserve
must be maintained at a minimum of 25% of the capital after those usages.
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FERETRER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE
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BEATEIA

B THIBE fEHB% -
A
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HEEY  FERAE
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AR W
B 2 s
HANEATBELD

EX  BEREFHIE

EREBEEZNE
BREX  BENHRE
FrigR.2 B ER 1R
BRERREEMERZ

BERE
EREEEREA T2
FEAE 5 S EFT (),
R BEEE
FEZEE
FRZ MR
BREAOREZ D

PARR AR AT 2 (R

BERGHEH 2 BEXT
REME
FERD
JENE 5508 K E A
& MR IE Rl D
ENEERKERSRHD

JENE SRR EAM
FERFRIEE D, ORi )
B SREE M, Of)

EffEERERS
REXBRELZREFR
ERAHME

(B REIBEFIBH
REMBEEER ZENHIR

RECEEBNR S FE

colourmix &

For the year ended 3 1st March, 2022

Hiat
Notes
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs 7
Interest income 5

Gain on disposal of property, 6
plant and equipment

Gains on modification of leases 5

Gains on termination of leases 5

Change in fair value of investment 6
properties

Depreciation of property, 6
plant and equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets 6

Impairment loss recognised in respect 6
of property, plant and equipment

Impairment loss recognised in respect 6
of right-of-use assets

Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised 6
on trade receivables, under expected
credit loss model

Provision for inventories 6

Write-off of inventories 6

Reversal of onerous 6
contracts provision

Share-based payment expenses 6

Operating cash flows before movements
in working capital

Decrease in inventories

Decrease in trade and other receivables

Decrease in rental and
utility deposits paid

Increase/(decrease) in trade and
other payables

Increase/(decrease) in rental deposits
received

Decrease in rental deposits paid

Net cash generated from operations
Interest paid

Hong Kong Profits Tax (paid)/refunded
Tax paid in other jurisdictions

NET CASH FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES

MoriMor O VeeKO  Wanko

BEBERZERBRA AR

2022 2021
FET FHT
HK$’000 HK$’000
(52,431) (179,319)
10,682 15,438
(913) (1,467)
(29) (85)
(17,322) (5,203)
(707) (2,795)
(6,096) 28,929
8,182 13,138
65,188 100,941
308 3,873
4,465 53,619
(2,000) 1,466
7,015 6,112
9,094 8,727
(616) (3,272)
155 59
24,975 40,161
54,102 146,019
9,823 7,848
5,689 20,732
6,160 (9,207)
1,140 (25)
4,834 1,978
106,723 207,506
(2,906) (5,691)
(800) 8,845
(129) (670)
102,888 209,990
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

SRERERER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

HE-T-_—F=A=+—HIEFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2022 2021
Kt FHERT FHET
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000
REXK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEUFI S Interest received 29 31
BEEX  WERIHEEE Purchase of items of property,
plant and equipment (1,218) (5,118)
RELEESE  BFEREE Proceeds from disposal of property,
2 Was plant and equipment 69 85
ARREEBNRSFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING
ACTIVITIES (1,120) (5,002)
MEEY FINANCING ACTIVITIES
HIBRITE New bank loans 34,000 103,960
BEIRITTER Repayment of bank loans (65,534) (100,403)
FIEOER New import loans 171,642 119,568
EBEEOER Repayment of import loans (157,716) (153,690)
HAENRNAE D Principal portion of lease payments (116,988) (146,966)
BEAFE Interest paid (7,776) (9,947)
FARBEEBN NET CASH USED IN
REeRE FINANCING ACTIVITIES (142,372) (187,478)
REeRBELEEER NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN
(RD) /S nEE CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (40,604) 17,510
FONRERREEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT BEGINNING OF YEAR 47,114 26,476
IEERSHHE EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE
RATE CHANGES 130 3,128
FRORERASEEER CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
AT END OF YEAR 6,640 47,114
REeRBELSEEFEBAERZON ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
REEBBBARR RIS KRS  Cash and cash equivalents as stated 19
£EIER in the consolidated statement of
financial position 10,259 47,114
RITEX Bank overdrafts 22 (3,619) -
REEABERERMIIRE KIS  Cash and cash equivalents as stated in
%£EEHE the consolidated statement of cash
flows 6,640 47,114
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BEBERZERBRA AR

R MEHRRME
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
1. ARRKEEER 1.  Corporate and Group Information

B EEERERAR ([ARARDRHEAS Veeko International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated as an
HEAMKZASREAR AR G exempted company with limited liability in the Cayman Islands and its shares are
EEBMATHMARAT([BZF]) L listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
e ARA Z kM BE M B L EHE, The addresses of the registered office and the principal place of business of the
RAFEHR [AEIER P HEE - Company are disclosed in “Corporate Information” of the annual report.

RAREERAETR NG hx&IER A In the opinion of the directors of the Company, the holding company and ultimate
7] /& Silver Crown Profits Limited * % 2 holding company is Silver Crown Profits Limited, a company incorporated in the
AIREBRELESEMAY E&KH British Virgin Islands, which is ultimately owned by HSBC International Trustee
HSBC International Trustee Limited X 3% Limited for The J Cheng Family Trust.

The J Cheng Family Trustif A °

RER - NRFIREMB AR (5 [ RE During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the

B DREATEEE “Group”) were involved in the following principal activities:
- Bl I SHE AR = manufacture and sale of ladies fashion
- SHE(AD - sale of cosmetics

- REZER - investment holding

61
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

REMERRMETE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=t—HLFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
1. 2RAREEERE) 1.  Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
MEATZ2ER Information about subsidiaries
ARABEBWB AR ZFBWT : Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:
3o A ERTRBRRA,
MEDRAB EEWE & AAFEEEEEILE FEEK
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Percentage of
establishment/ share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B BiF:3
Direct Indirect
Veeko Holdings Limited #HEBEZLRE 618.56%E T REERK
B
BVI/Hong Kong US$618.56 100% - Investment holding
BREFRERAR BB 2,400,00078 7T RREE
Veeko Fashion Company Hong Kong HK$2,400,000 — 100%  Retailing of garments
Limited
Wina Success Limited B 10075 7T BEME
Hong Kong HK$100 - 100%  Property holding
RHEE MR BRAF i 1,000,000/ 7T festhin R & E mTE
Colourmix Cosmetics Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Retailing of
Company Limited cosmetics &
skincare products
Colourmix Cosmetics EB 100,000/ 70 bt RkEEMTE
Retail Company Hong Kong HK$100,000 — 100%  Retailing of
Limited cosmetics &
skincare products
THREBBREZERARAR  &BE 10,0007 7T ESTEE/ES
Colourmix International Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100%  Property holding

Holdings Limited

ISRERASREERAR FH 20,000,0007% 7T PRI BLiE
(H1at)

Shantou Huanan Digao PRC HK$20,000,000 = 100%  Manufacturing of
Fashion Company garments

Limited (Note)
62
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BEBERZERBRA AR

R MEHRRME
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE-ZT-_—F=A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
1. 2RAREEERE) 1.  Corporate and Group Information (Continued)
MBABZER (&) Information about subsidiaries (Continued)
ARABEBWB AR ZFBWT : (&) Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows: (Continued)
41 v BERTRBERE
i) PN EEWE EESHIE=S AATEEEZESLE FEEE
Place of Issued and
incorporation/ fully paid Percentage of
establishment/ share capital/ equity attributable
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital to the Company Principal activities
B s
Direct Indirect
ISR AR &6 A PR A A HhE 38,350,000/ 7T KRREE R AL B

(Ktst)

(Note) PRC HK$38,350,000 - 100%  Retailing and
wholesaling of
garments

SRR SR EAR AR HhE 36,000,0007% 7T RREBER B Y%

(Ktst)

Shantou Yungao Fashion PRC HK$36,000,000 — 100%  Manufacturing of

Company Limited garments and

(Note) property holding

MiiF : ZEABAZEWBINEIRERE  Note: The companies are registered in the form of wholly-foreign-owned enterprises.
Z T -

LB ARRFLKFNE@MIEEE  None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at the end of the year
E] W R EENEBES ° or at any time during the year.

FRILESTRANFRNEEFEALME  The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the

EEINFREBRAEBAINMEESK  directors, principally affected the results of the Group for the year or formed a

BEZMEAR - E5R AL EMHE  substantial portion of the assets or liabilities of the Group at the end of the year.

RAZHBECERBRITE © To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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VEEKO INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED

mE PR AR

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.1. RBEEE

ZEPBRRDEBBROABTESFIMAES
(IEEEMAE])MRHZEBH RS
ZRA(THBMBMEER ) (B R2IEM
BEEMBHSER  BEGHEU(E
AR ERE) REBEBER
Z &t RAIREE QR GG 2 REEE kW
MRE - TR ISR THIR IR 5L PR A A AR
5 HEREBEMERATFEEFTERI B
SEEBEN  ZEFBRRIIABT
(TBLTNE2S  MAESEHNBEERE
TR TAL ©

BE-_E-_—_F=A=+—HILEE ' K
£ B E L FEE 853,366,000/ T 0 MEZE
ZBAL  AEENRBAEBBERD
& E320,729,00078 7T °

R EER  EREREZEAEER
KmENE & RFIIAREL A AABRIR -
ARHE RSB R R A RO B ERIARE

ANAZEEZCEHEEEREUNAEEHS
SRETEA  BEEBRARMAZER -
EEESTFFRUARBITRE RN IFER
HBFERR EEREERIEEEK
WiEEE  AEERERANEELASE
ZEREUBHRRESEZ ARED KRR
ToEARNAEEEREECYEITEY
BEM - Al ARAEERBIEFE
KEREGRUAREERE T _—F=4
=+—BIEFENKEVBEHRRANLE -

Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.1. Basis of Preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”), accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except for investment properties
which have been measured at fair value. These financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand
except when otherwise indicated.

Going concern basis

During the year ended 31st March, 2022, the Group incurred a net loss of
HK$53,366,000 and, as of that date, the Group’s current liabilities exceeded its
current assets by HK$320,729,000.

In view of the above circumstances, the directors have given careful consideration
to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and its available sources of
finance in assessing whether the Group will have sufficient financial resources to
continue as a going concern.

The directors of the Company have reviewed the Group’s cash flow projection
prepared by management, which includes revenue and expenditure growth of
the business, working capital needs and, the continuing renewal of the banking
facilities. They are of the opinion that, after taking into account the measures
implemented or being implemented, the Group will have sufficient working capital
to finance its operation and to meet its financial obligations for at least the next
twelve months from the date of approval of these consolidated financial statements.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe it is appropriate to prepare the
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022

on a going concern basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z-_—F=A=1+—HILFE

2.1. RBEE(E)
BEKEHE(E)

R-_E-_—F=A=+—H AEEXTH
FRERTTBE & 3276 556,683,000 7T © A%
BB E sk FEE AR EeEG) /I
HRE - BEATRNEFE —PHRIT
BE R EARIEAIRARITRE R
ZEXRAH: (DEREENTTRBRE
= HEASHREYE BT A K&
fRERAE—PRIBEE T -

FEBERTELERHNRERNFTELE
HEHURR Lt AR -

HFEEERRALTGE - BB EE
THE  BEEEEREEATKDSHE
B ERREELRE— S BE  WHIER
PHEENFRDEEENDBRARDEE
MRBEE - ZEFBENFELRRRAE
ZEHFAPBHRET -

REREZEE
HAMBHRREEAEERE_T_—
ZA=tT—RUEFEZHBEHRS - HEA
AEARRERARREFNER - EX
M ERRFEEER - ARBREE
REHKEEHROEN (A< A KBERE
BRENEEREHRHAREMADNES
RN AR B2 O Ay - BNEUSHESIRE -

For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Going concern basis (Continued)

As at 31st March, 2022, the Group had unutilised banking facilities of
HK$56,683,000. The measures that the Group has implemented or is in the process
of implementing include (i) negotiation for external financing, including but
not limited to, obtaining further banking facilities or renegotiating to defer the
repayment dates of existing banking facilities; and (ii) consideration of potential
downside risk factors, working capital sensitivities and identified mitigating
actions that could be taken to further reduce cash expenditure.

Whether the Group will be able to generate adequate cash flows to continue as a
going concern would depend on the successful outcome of the above measures.

Should the going concern assumption be inappropriate, adjustments may have to
be made to write down the values of assets to their recoverable amounts, to provide
for further liabilities that might arise, and to reclassify non-current assets and
non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. The effects of these
adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the
Group for the year ended 31st March, 2022. A subsidiary is an entity, directly
or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is
exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee (i.e.
existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant activities
of the investee).
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Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.1. Basis of Preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c) the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same reporting
period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The results of
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group obtains control, and
continue to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three elements
of control described above. A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary,
without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i) the assets and
liabilities of the subsidiary and (ii) the cumulative translation differences recorded
in equity; and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received, (ii) the
fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any resulting surplus or deficit
in profit or loss. The Group’s share of components previously recognised in
other comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits,
as appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.2. Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the first time for the
current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30th June, 2021

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS
16 address issues not dealt with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest rate benchmark is replaced
with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest rate to be updated without
adjusting the carrying amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining the contractual cash
flows of financial assets and liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence
of the interest rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the amendments permit
changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform to be made to hedge
designations and hedge documentation without the hedging relationship
being discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition are
dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and
recognise hedge ineffectiveness.

The amendments also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to
meet the separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated
as a risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation of
the hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable requirement is
met, provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component to
become separately identifiable within the next 24 months. Furthermore,
the amendments require an entity to disclose additional information to
enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest
rate benchmark reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk
management strategy.
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Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31st March, 2022

2.2.

(a)

(b)

Changes in Accounting Policies and Disclosures
(Continued)

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings denominated
in Hong Kong dollars based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
(“HIBOR”) and United States dollars (“US$”) based on the London
Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”), respectively, as at 31st March, 2022.
The Group expects that HIBOR will continue to exist and the interest rate
benchmark reform has not had an impact on the Group’s HIBOR-based
borrowings.

Since LIBOR-based borrowings were not replaced by RFRs during the
year, the amendments did not have any impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group. If the interest rates of these borrowings
are replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply the above-
mentioned practical expedient upon the modification of these instruments
provided that the “economically equivalent” criterion is met. Additional
information about the transition and the associated risks is disclosed in note
32 to the consolidated financial statements.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021 extends the availability of
the practical expedient for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic by 12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient
applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease payments
affects only payments originally due on or before 30th June, 2022, provided
the other conditions for applying the practical expedient are met. The
amendment is effective retrospectively for annual periods beginning on or
after 1st April, 2021 with any cumulative effect of initially applying the
amendment recognised as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at the beginning of the current accounting period. Earlier application
is permitted.

The Group has assessed all COVID-19 related rent concessions given by
lessors. All necessary lease modifications have been made and the Group
did not apply the practical expedient provided in the amendment.
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For the year ended 3 1st March, 2022
2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework!

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint

Venture’

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®

Amendment to HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — Comparative Information’

Amendments to HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts®?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or
Non-current>*

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies®

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates?

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction?

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use'

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract!

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41!

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs
2018-2020
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Annual Report 2022

For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023
No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong Interpretation 5
Presentation of Financial Statements - Classification by the Borrower of a Term
Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October
2020 to align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

2 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October 2020,
HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that permits insurers
to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1st
January, 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable to the
Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to the previous
Framework for the Preparation and Presentation of Financial Statements with a
reference to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June
2018 without significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also add
to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to refer to the
Conceptual Framework to determine what constitutes an asset or a liability. The
exception specifies that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should
refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt the
amendments prospectively from 1st April, 2022. Since the amendments apply
prospectively to business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or after
the date of first application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments on
the date of transition.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an inconsistency
between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss resulting
from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of assets between an
investor and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the
transaction is recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the
unrelated investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are
to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after the completion of
a broader review of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is
subject to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity has a right
to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting period if it complies
with those conditions at that date. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a settlement of a
liability. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2023 and shall be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies require entities to
disclose their material accounting policy information rather than their significant
accounting policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial statements, it can
reasonably be expected to influence decisions that the primary users of general
purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual periods beginning on or after Ist
January, 2023 and earlier application is permitted. Since the guidance provided in
the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is non-mandatory, an effective
date for these amendments is not necessary. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments on the Group’s accounting policy disclosures.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022

2.3. Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in accounting
estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty. The amendments also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The amendments are effective for
annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023 and apply to
changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on
or after the start of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and
deductible temporary differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred
tax liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after
1st January, 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related to leases and
decommissioning obligations at the beginning of the earliest comparative period
presented, with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment to the opening
balance of retained profits or other component of equity as appropriate at that date.
In addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively to transactions other
than leases and decommissioning obligations. Earlier application is permitted.
As at 31st March, 2022, the carrying amounts of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities which are subject to the amendments amounted to HK$67,089,000 and
HK$102,077,000, respectively. The Group is still in the process of assessing the
full impact of the application of the amendments.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from the cost of an
item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost of those items, in profit or
loss. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant
and equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of the earliest
period presented in the financial statements in which the entity first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.3 Issued But Not Yet Effective Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of assessing whether a
contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises
the costs that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g. direct labour
and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate directly to fulfilling that
contract (e.g. an allocation of the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management and
supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly chargeable to the counterparty
under the contract. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st January, 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which an entity
has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier application is permitted.
Any cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial application without
restating the comparative information. The amendments are not expected to have
any significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details
of the amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an entity includes
when assessing whether the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the original financial liability.
These fees include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the borrower or
lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or after the beginning of the
annual reporting period in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st
January, 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments from the
lessor relating to leasehold improvements in Illustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential confusion regarding the
treatment of lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties at fair value at the end of each
reporting period. Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption
that the transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in the
principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset
or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market
participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using the asset in its highest
and best use or by selling it to another market participant that would use the asset
in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and
for which sufficient data are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of
relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the
financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy, described
as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input

that is significant to the fair value measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on a
recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment testing for
an asset is required (other than inventories, deferred tax assets, financial assets,
investment properties), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in
use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent
of those from other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset (e.g. a headquarters building) is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and consistent basis or,
otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset exceeds
its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in the period in which it arises
in those expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether there is an
indication that previously recognised impairment losses may no longer exist or may
have decreased. If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset is reversed only if there has
been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that
asset, but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have been
determined (net of any depreciation) had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.
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BE-_ZT-_—_F=A=t—HLFE For the year ended 31st March, 2022
24. TEETHEBEE) 2.4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

2}y Related parties
ETHEBERT @A BRAEKERS A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
A

(a) EAFABEAAXZALTHEBR (a) the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and that

FERKE - R AT : person:
) PR ek H R B AL E @) has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) HAEEBEEARTES (i)  has significant influence over the Group; or
£4
(i) BAEEIAREEZAAE (iii)  is a member of the key management personnel of the Group or of a
MNEZEEEAS parent of the Group;
54 or
(b) ERAAERIFE TIEM— (b) the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:
TR
) ZERE \ZKE EER— (1) the entity and the Group are members of the same group;
B K E R
(ii) —RERAS " XKEBERN (i1) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or of a
Bt N AR A B (K parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

S—REBOHTRA K
BARKRARMBAR)

(iii) ZERERER AR — (iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third party;
ZHANEERE

(iv) —REBBE-FEEN (iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an
& ﬁﬁé% mE—EBA associate of the third entity;

=HERNEE AR

v) ZEBRAAEEYEARE (v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of
EEBEEMNEENEER employees of either the Group or an entity related to the Group;
A 3% 37 B B B 12 18 A St
E

(vi) RZEBRFTHEAIALE (vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified
sk E I in (a);
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity
or is a member of the key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides
key management personnel services to the Group or to the parent of
the Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation
and any impairment losses. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset
to its working condition and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have been put
into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write off the cost of each
item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Leasehold land and buildings Over the lease terms of the leases
Leasehold improvements 20% or over the terms of the leases,

whichever is shorter

Plant and machinery 25%
Furniture and fixtures 20%
Office equipment 33%
Motor vehicles 20%
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For the year ended 31st March, 2022
2.4. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (Continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives,
the